

### NRC Publications Archive Archives des publications du CNRC

#### **Participatory Multi-Site Videoconferencing at River Valley Health** Gibson, Kerri; O'Donnell, Susan

For the publisher's version, please access the DOI link below./ Pour consulter la version de l'éditeur, utilisez le lien DOI ci-dessous.

https://doi.org/10.4224/8914295

NRC Publications Record / Notice d'Archives des publications de CNRC: https://nrc-publications.canada.ca/eng/view/object/?id=8d0ba8be-47cb-40c4-b844-edf823cbde26 https://publications-cnrc.canada.ca/fra/voir/objet/?id=8d0ba8be-47cb-40c4-b844-edf823cbde26

Access and use of this website and the material on it are subject to the Terms and Conditions set forth at <u>https://nrc-publications.canada.ca/eng/copyright</u> READ THESE TERMS AND CONDITIONS CAREFULLY BEFORE USING THIS WEBSITE.

L'accès à ce site Web et l'utilisation de son contenu sont assujettis aux conditions présentées dans le site https://publications-cnrc.canada.ca/fra/droits LISEZ CES CONDITIONS ATTENTIVEMENT AVANT D'UTILISER CE SITE WEB.

**Questions?** Contact the NRC Publications Archive team at PublicationsArchive-ArchivesPublications@nrc-cnrc.gc.ca. If you wish to email the authors directly, please see the first page of the publication for their contact information.

**Vous avez des questions?** Nous pouvons vous aider. Pour communiquer directement avec un auteur, consultez la première page de la revue dans laquelle son article a été publié afin de trouver ses coordonnées. Si vous n'arrivez pas à les repérer, communiquez avec nous à PublicationsArchive-ArchivesPublications@nrc-cnrc.gc.ca.







National Research Council Canada Conseil national de recherches Canada

Institute for Information Technology

Institut de technologie de l'information



# Participatory Multi-Site Videoconferencing at River Valley Health \*

Gibson, K., O'Donnell, S. July 2008

\* published as NRC/ ERB-1153. 14 pages. July 2008. NRC 50410.

Copyright 2008 by National Research Council of Canada

Permission is granted to quote short excerpts and to reproduce figures and tables from this report, provided that the source of such material is fully acknowledged.





National Research Council Canada Institute for Information Technology

# Participatory Multi-Site Videoconferencing at River Valley Health

Kerri Gibson & Susan O'Donnell

**July 2008** 



National Research Conseil national Council Canada de recherches Canada



This report was prepared for MuVi, a joint research project of the Broadband Visual Communication Strategic Initiative (BVC-SI) of the National Research Council Institute for Information Technology (NRC-IIT) and River Valley Health (RVH) Telehealth in New Brunswick. The views expressed are those of the authors, who welcome feedback.

Copyright © NRC 2008 Report No. 50410

**Suggested reference for this report:** Gibson, K., and O'Donnell, S. Participatory Multi-Site Videoconferencing at River Valley Health. 14 Pages. July 2008 ERB-1153. NRC 50410.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank the River Valley Health multi-site videoconferencing groups and support staff who took part in this research, and Valerie Hagerman and Faye McIntosh from RVH for their invaluable support, cooperation, and feedback. Thanks also to our NRC-IIT BVC-SI project colleagues for their feedback and comments on earlier drafts.

#### **NRC-IIT RESEARCH TEAM**

Kerri Gibson, PhD Candidate, Clinical Psychology, University of New Brunswick Dr. Susan O'Donnell, Senior Research Officer, NRC-IIT

#### **RESEARCH PARTNER**

Valerie Hagerman, Regional Director, Telehealth, River Valley Health.

#### **CONTACT INFORMATION**

Address: National Research Council Institute for Information Technology 46 Dineen Drive Fredericton, NB Canada E3B 9W4

Dr. Susan O'Donnell, NRC-IIT Susan.ODonnell@nrc-cnrc.gc.ca

### Contents

| 1 Executive summary       | 2  |
|---------------------------|----|
| 2 Introduction            | 2  |
| 3 Brief literature review | 3  |
| 4 The analytic framework  | 4  |
| 5 The research procedure  | 5  |
| 6 Research findings       | 6  |
| 7 Areas for improvement   | 9  |
| 8 Next steps              | 9  |
| 9 Conclusion              | 10 |
| 10 References             | 11 |

### **1 Executive summary**

Participation and engagement are foundational to a successful multi-site videoconference. NRC-IIT is working with River Valley Health (RVH) in New Brunswick to identify and help implement best practices for participatory multi-site videoconferencing (MSV) for non-clinical health administration.

We designed a study to identify the social and technical factors that could improve MSV within the distributed health authority. Five non-clinical administrative and educational groups meeting regularly via MSV were involved in this participatory research study. Surveys were administered to participants, committee chairs participated in a focus group, and brief interviews were conducted with RVH technical support staff. The research is still underway and more activities and data collections are planned.

Our findings from this study suggest that for the most part, participants are pleased with the outcomes of their videoconference events. Overall, participants reported having fairly strong feelings of social connection during the videoconference. However it is a challenge to keep the remote sites involved and engaged. Typically, most participants are located in the only urban site within the health authority and often the participation at other, rural, sites is quite low.

The analysis identified suggestions for improving participation in videoconference events, ways to facilitate communication, and both social and technical areas for RVH staff training. The two highest ranking suggestions are improving the image on the screen, and focusing the camera in on speakers.

Few technical problems were reported during the five MSV data collection events. However, twenty percent of participants did report some issues, mostly problems with the image and audio at other sites.

Interest in training was assessed. Participants were most interested in technical skills training on 1) how to use applications and add-ons to units, 2) how to initiate a call, and 3) trouble-shooting procedures. For social skills training, the most popular choice was training on how to facilitate a group discussion, and others wanted training on how to make appropriate eye contact and how to feel comfortable voicing one's views during a MSV.

In conclusion, the study findings suggest specific ways forward, and areas for intervention, to facilitate the use of best practices for multi-site videoconferencing. To disseminate these findings and address the goal of implementing best practices, our team is currently developing a peergenerated video intervention tool. This tool will help with the communication of best practices to videoconference users. Through their responses, MSV participants have indicated an interest in learning about videoconferencing etiquette, through video, and have identified some specific things to improve their experience - such as focusing the camera on speakers, and maintaining eye contact (two suggestions endorsed by many participants). Starting from this point we have created several pilot videos with a chair of one MSV group that address these two issues. In the next phase of this research project, we will assess the usability and perceived effectiveness of this learning tool as we look toward incorporating it within a larger, multifaceted intervention within RVH.

### 2 Introduction

This report is the result of research exploring technical and social aspects of multi-site videoconferencing (MSV) for non-clinical health administration. Our participatory research project has two partners: the National Research Council Institute for Information Technology (NRC-IIT) and River Valley Health (RVH).

Our research project is called MuVi - Multi-site Videoconferencing Best Practices. MuVi is part of the NRC-IIT's Broadband Visual Communication Strategic Initiative, which is exploring synchronous (e.g. videoconferencing) and asynchronous (e.g. video) visual communication among groups of people in multiple locations. The MuVi project is a good fit with this research initiative: it explores how groups communicate by videoconference and attempts to make the communication process more participatory.

The aim of MuVi is to develop best practices for multi-site videoconferencing at River Valley Health. RVH is located in New Brunswick – one of the most rural provinces in Canada. The health authority is comprised of several hospitals, health centres and specialty care programs that provide a broad range of health services to 166,000 citizens. RVH covers a

geographic region of 23,251 kilometers – the largest health region in New Brunswick. The region is approximately 60% rural and 40% urban with 15 communities, including five First Nation communities.

RVH's Telehealth Services serves both clinical and non-clinical activities. The health authority purchased a videoconferencing bridge in 2006 to connect multiple sites. During 2006-2007, users of the network engaged in 1,924 hours of videoconferencing – an increase of 82.5% from 2005-2006 (River Valley Health, 2007). The use of the Telehealth network is still exploding - for example, in 2007-2008, compared to 2006-2007 there was a 62% increase in overall hours – with a 78% increase in non-clinical utilization and a 29% increase in clinical use (River Valley Health, 2008b).

Most of the time, videoconferencing at RVH is used for non-clinical activities, which increased 125% from 2005-2006 to 2006-2007. In the past two years there has been an increase in the number of telehealth rooms across the region, from three in 2001, to 31 in 2007. By early 2007, all five First Nation communities in the health authority area had telehealth sites.

According to recent User Impact Surveys conducted by RVH Telehealth Services, videoconferencing allows communication among RVH professionals who otherwise would not be able to connect. Results from the RVH 2008 User Impact survey indicate that 57% of participants reported saving time because of this medium. Another 53% indicated that having videoconferencing in their facility has given them better access to educational events and training. More than 60% indicated they have become more involved in professional committees and activities because of videoconferencing. Furthermore, when participants were asked if they would use videoconferencing again, not one participant said no.

Participants in the RVH survey were asked about the types of training they would like. The top three priorities for technical training were the use of applications with the videoconference system (e.g. laptop), the use of the camera and presets, and how to initiate a videoconference session. For nontechnical training the top three priorities were training on videoconference etiquette, delivering an education session through videoconference, and how to be an effective chair and participant during a session. These results speak to the importance and appreciation of videoconferencing at RVH. The staff of RVH Telehealth Services is very enthusiastic and about videoconferencing has been implementing good practices for RVH videoconference users. The MuVi project arose because of the high use and interest in videoconferencing in the organisation. A project goal is help the organisation identify and implement best practices for participatory multi-site videoconferencing.

This report is based on a study that collected and analyzed "baseline" data for the first phase of the research project. This phase assessed the current functioning of non-clinical health administration groups who meet regularly by multi-site videoconferencing. The second phase of the project includes the development, implementation, and assessment of an intervention that will educate RVH videoconference users on best practices.

There is a paucity of research on multi-site videoconferencing in a non-clinical health setting. This study makes a valuable contribution to the research literature and will build the foundation for the intervention to be implemented in the second phase of the project.

### **3 Brief literature review**

We conducted a comprehensive literature review on participatory multi-site videoconferencing earlier in the MuVi project (Molyneaux et al., 2008). This section reviews some highlights.

Participation and engagement are key ingredients in knowledge retention. Researchers have found that having the opportunity to see, hear, and interact can increase the retention of knowledge by 90%. Furthermore, some researchers have gone so far to say that videoconference experiences where participants cannot participate are not worthwhile (Greenburg, 2004; Peterson, 2000).

Participation includes observing, communicating or listening to another person or group of persons in a videoconference. Engagement refers to dialogue during or after a videoconference and change on a personal, group or community level, such as learning, becoming empowered, and individual, group or community action.

Creating a participatory atmosphere for videoconferencing involves addressing several

factors. Group dynamics, such as trust, are integral to healthy group functioning and vary according to the type of communication used. Videoconferencing has an advantage over audio or text communication as the video allows users to see facial expressions and other important visual cues which can aid in the communication process and the building of trust. However, videoconferencing is not an "in-person" interaction, and sometimes technical problems or other variables (e.g. too many people in a room, not all participants appearing on camera, etc.) can affect group dynamics and trust (Molyneaux et al., 2008).

Other issues that can affect levels of trust include: if participants have never met in-person, if they do not intend to be involved with each other again, and the very climate of videoconferencing - where sometimes talking and providing input seems difficult as gaining floor control can be a challenge (Wainfan & Davis, 2004). The size of the group can also affect the level of participation – people in larger groups, likely to be the case in multi-site videoconferencing, might have less opportunities to interact with each other.

### 4 The analytic framework

Our analytic framework is a research tool that guides our research on video communications. We developed and validated the framework through several previous studies involving videoconferencing of all different types (e.g. Virtual Classrooms and community development projects).



Within it we have identified four key categories of variables that are worthy of exploration. We based the framework on the premise that certain social and technical variables can either facilitate or hinder the communication process. The identification and examination of these variables in specific studies can help determine issues that need to be addressed. Please see O'Donnell, Molyneaux, and Gibson (2008) for a detailed review of this analytic framework, as only the variables that are of direct interest to this project and report will be discussed below.

Communicating using multi-site videoconferencing can be enabled or constrained by variables in four categories: 1) the technical infrastructure, 2) the interaction of users and groups within the technical infrastructure, 3) production and reception of audiovisual content, and 4) social and organizational relations.

Enablers facilitate engagement and participation. For example, feeling like you are part of a group is likely to make you feel more comfortable communicating with group members. Constraints hinder engagement and participation. Using the same example, if a group member feels excluded or isolated she or he is likely to feel less comfortable voicing their opinions to their committee.

This framework was developed based on a variety of theoretical approaches from multiple social science disciplines. Social informatics, community informatics, and feminist standpoint epistemology are some of the theories that have influenced the development of the analytic framework. Drawing on these theories we value the experiences and perspectives of the users themselves, and so it follows that this project is of a participatory design. This means that the researchers work closely with the partner organisation and the groups participating in this research, to design the research process, disseminate results, and plan for interventions. An account of the challenges and experiences of working with a health authority for this type of participatory research is discussed in Gibson and O'Donnell (2008).

**Technical infrastructure.** This component of the framework encompasses purely technical variables, such as the technology used and whether it was used alone or with other applications or technologies, the bandwidth, the quality and position of the screens, microphones, and cameras, and other technical variables. For the purpose of this study, information on the technical infrastructure

was gathered by obtaining a technical inventory of the infrastructure and equipment available in the telehealth rooms across the health authority. In addition, some technical information was also gleaned from brief interviews conducted with telehealth support staff.

Interaction of users and groups with the technical infrastructure. This category is comprised of both social and technical variables. Variables in this category that were of direct interest to this project include the levels of comfort with the technologies, the technical skills of participants, the level of technical support available to participants, the perceived ease of use of the technology as well as the perceived usefulness of the technology.

The Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) was put forth by Davis (1986) as a way of explaining and predicting use of information and communication technologies. Davis postulated that users' perceived ease of use of a technology (how easy they find it to use and how well they are able to get it to do what they want) and their perceived usefulness (how much they see the technology as making their job easier for example) both predict the uptake and use of a technology. Perceived usefulness was found to be a more powerful predictor – implying that users are willing to use a technology if they perceive it to be useful, even if it isn't the easiest technology to use.

The TAM has been validated by numerous studies. For this study we used items that have been previously developed for measuring TAM and adapted them for multi-site videoconferencing. We wanted to investigate how the users at RVH perceived the usefulness and ease of use of multisite videoconferencing.

For example, perceived usefulness of a technology can facilitate communication if participants see the technology as enabling their group to accomplish things more quickly. In contrast, if participants view the technology as hindering their group's performance or think that an in-person meeting might be more appropriate, then communication is likely to suffer.

Other variables explored under this heading include the room size, the position of the furniture, and the lighting and room configuration.

*Production and reception of audio-visual content.* This category includes both technical and social variables as well. Levels of participation and

engagement with the material during the videoconference varies among participants as does the extent to which the organization and structure of the session encourages participation by users.

Social and organizational relations. This category is comprised of only social variables. The main variables we considered in this study included the experiences of different participants and user groups during a multi-site videoconference, based on their location (e.g. urban or remote), their level of engagement with the technology, their feelings of group connection, and the type of event (e.g. professional administrative or development/educational). Other variables of interest include meeting etiquette, group tasks, preference for other modes of interaction (e.g. face to face), and group size.

### 5 The research procedure

#### **Research questions**

The main research questions guiding this project are: 1) to what extent are the people in the health administration group in different locations multi-site participating and engaging using What videoconferencing? 2) constitutes "successful" participation and engagement by a health administration group in multiple locations meeting by multi-site videoconferencing? 3) What are the enablers and constraints to successful participation and engagement? 4) How can the design of the broadband audio-visual technologies improved to facilitate participation and be engagement? 5) How can the design of the visual communication process be improved to facilitate participation and engagement?

#### Method

**Participants.** The analysis in this report is based on data collected from two components of the overall MuVi project. First, surveys were administered to participants involved in RVH groups who met via multi-site videoconference to engage in non-clinical activities. The second component involved brief technical interviews with telehealth support staff, such as site coordinators, and other key technical and administrative staff.

*Group data-collection:* Five RVH groups who meet on a regular basis through multi-site videoconferencing were recruited to participate in this study. Three of these groups were

administrative and most of their tasks focused on committee work. The members typically had a specified role for that committee. In addition, two educational groups participated, and these groups focused on professional development for health authority staff. These were open groups where anyone was welcome to attend any session, and there was no official group membership. A more detailed description of the participants is offered in the results section under the profile of participants.

*Brief interviews:* The RVH telehealth support staff, four site coordinators and the head telehealth support staff completed brief interviews. These site coordinators assume this position in addition to their main administrative role within the organisation. Site coordinators who were at a site that could have potentially participated in the multi-site videoconference data collections were invited to participate, as well as the head telehealth support contact.

Materials. All participants were invited to read and sign a consent form if they chose to participate. Consenting participants were then administered a five-page survey. The survey included demographic questions, items measuring feelings of connection and group dynamics, perceived ease of use of technology, perceived usefulness of technology, and other questions about what could help participation or improve communication between sites [Please refer to the appendix for the complete questionnaire]. The questions on perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness were drawn from items that have previously been used to measure the Technology Acceptance Model (Davis, 1986). Participants were ensured that their survey responses would be anonymous and kept confidential.

Procedure. The authors worked closely with the participating groups throughout the study. Prior to each group's leaders and members consenting to participate in this project, a researcher from the team visited the group, explained the study, answered questions, and observed the group's interactions. Once a group agreed to participate, the group's next scheduled multi-site videoconference session was used to collect data. Group members were only invited to complete a survey if their videoconference had at least 3 sites connected. During the data collection sessions the events were recorded. At each data collection the researcher took notes, introduced the study, invited attendants to participate, and administered the survey to consenting participants. In total, 45 surveys were

returned – based on data collected from five groups (three administrative and two educational/ professional development).

In total – five interviews were conducted with Telehealth staff. Brief phone interviews lasting 10 to 15 minutes were conducted with four individuals, an in-person interview with one. Participants were asked about common videoconferencing tasks they engage in, their training needs, common difficulties and problems reported at their site, and similar questions.

### **6 Research findings**

#### Profile of survey participants

Participants completed the surveys after attending a multi-site videoconference for an educational session (44.4% of participants) or an administrative session (55.6%).

Surveys were available to every participant at every videoconference site. Participants were from four different sites (two different sites within Fredericton Doctor Everett Chalmer's Hospital, and two rural sites, Oromocto and Perth-Andover). Only 17.8% of participants identified as being from a rural site.

The sample included more female participants, approximately 93%, primarily because there were more females than males at all the videoconference events, and in general there are more women in many health professions (e.g. nurses).

English was the first language (88.9%) of most participants, French for 6.7% and other languages for 4.4%. The majority of survey respondents (64.4%) were 36-55 years of age.

The majority of survey respondents in educational events did not identify as members of the group that held the session; however, in administrative groups almost all participants indicated they were group members, with the average length of membership being 20.88 months.

We asked a series of questions to gain a better understanding of how comfortable the survey participants were in general with information and communication technologies (ICT). Overall, their ICT use was on the very low end of a five-point scale, closer to never/rarely (1) than everyday (5). Out of 8 different types of ICT (e.g. cell-phone for pictures and video only, personal website,

Facebook, etc.) respondents indicated that they used chat programs such as MSN most frequently (M=2.04), with programs such as Facebook (M=1.84) next. Results indicated that participants posted text comments to online videos the least (M=1.04). Participants also reported an infrequent use of cell phones for picture or videos (M=1.82), video chat (M=1.62), watching online video (M=1.58), having a blog or personal website (M=1.41), and uploading a video to share with others (M=1.18).

#### **Technical infrastructure**

Information in this section is from interviews conducted with four RVH staff providing telehealth support – three site coordinators and the technical support head contact. They also provided information on the technical infrastructure in RVH hospital sites and telehealth rooms.

The health authority furnishes its 31 telehealth rooms with Tandberg videoconferencing units. RVH uses ISDN networks for videoconferencing. The maximum IDSN bandwidth per site is 384 kbps, with one site having 512 kbps, and another 3mbps - both latter sites are at the Doctor Everett Chalmer's Hospital in Fredericton. IP (Internet Protocol) connections are present on 27 units but ISDN is the mode of service delivery. This IP connection allows remote assistance by support staff to the Tandberg units. The health authority plans to continue with ISDN for the next few years and then migrate to IP.

All except two of the Tandberg units have multi-site capacity; at one of these sites multi-site is available in another telehealth room. Each of the five First Nation communities within the health authority each has multi-site capacity and a telehealth room.

When asked what would help improve multi-site videoconferencing at RVH, one telehealth support person said training users how to improve the social quality of videoconferencing would be beneficial. For example, often individuals are too far from the camera and so other sites cannot read facial expressions or visual cues. The participant elaborated on how some improvement has been made for etiquette; for example now more users mute their microphone when nobody is speaking at their site.

Some of the most commonly cited problems with the videoconferencing included connection problems and peripheral problems (e.g. laptops). For example, some presenters will bring their own personal laptop to an event and then, at times, software and hardware compatibility problems result as the individual is not using the laptop that is supplied by the Telehealth room.

# Interaction of users and groups with the technical infrastructure

**Videoconferencing** experience. A sizeable minority (26.7%) of survey respondents have taken RVH videoconference training, typically offered by site coordinators. Upon a person's first use of the room they are usually invited to participate in one-on-one training with the coordinator. Even greater – at 35.6% - is the number of respondents having seen the RVH etiquette or checklist. However this still means the majority has not received training or seen the checklist. Another 11.1% had received videoconference training elsewhere.

Most (64.4%) reported participating in one to 10 videoconference events during the past six months, with 20% having participated in 11 to 20 events, and only 2.2% in 41 to 50 events. The average number of videoconference events in the past six months was 7.79.

**Level of technical support available.** RVH technical support is organized as follows: a user encountering difficulty first contacts their site coordinator. A site coordinator that cannot resolve the issue will call the technical support head contact. This individual can typically address the problem from his desktop using remote assistance. However, rarely he may need to go to the site.

The five First Nations communities are not on the same network as RVH. The agreement between the communities and RVH was for RVH to install the telehealth equipment and provide support for it, but the communities were to remain responsible for their own network. Therefore, when technical problems arise, technical support cannot remotely address the problem but must go there in person.

**Perceived ease of use of MSV.** We asked participants if multi-site videoconferencing (MSV) technology is easy to use - the mean score here was 3.56 on a scale ranging from 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 5 (Strongly Agree).

The mean score for comfort using the remote control was 3.49. The mean score for "I find it easy to get the multi-site videoconferencing technology to do what I want it to do" was 3.19. When asked if using the technology did not require a lot of mental

effort, the mean score was 3.28. In sum, participants perceived MSV to be less easy to use and more useful, as we will see in the next section.

**Perceived usefulness of MSV.** We asked participants if multi-site videoconferencing is useful for communication – the mean score was 4.40 on the same 1 to 5 scale. Participants said the technology enabled their group to accomplish things more quickly (M=4.29) and improved the performance of the group (M=3.8)

**Environmental considerations.** Room size and configuration were of concern to some participants; for one of the educational data collections the room was very crowded and not all participants were able to see the videoconference screen or appear on camera. If participants cannot be seen and cannot see others, participation and engagement are directly negatively affected. In addition, during this event the very cramped space meant that individuals could not move freely or have personal space. Also sometimes the position of the furniture was not ideal. For the educational event with far too many people than could be accommodated, chairs were placed in off-screen areas.

# Production and reception of audio-visual content

**Levels of participation and engagement.** Participants overwhelmingly (91.1%) reported actively listening during their videoconference event. The majority (71.1%) spoke with people at their own site during the videoconference, and 60% spoke with people at other sites. Many (48.9%) reported taking notes and few to none reported instant messaging, emailing, or speaking to people on the phone during the event.

Participants were asked about any tasks completed after their last videoconference. More than 40% had thought about what was discussed during the last event and 37.8% had spoken to others about what was discussed.

**Session structure and organization.** Participants rated the overall session on their opportunity to contribute to it - the mean rating here was 3.73 on a scale from 1 to 5, with 1 Poor and 5 Excellent. The mean rating for organization of the session was 3.71, the mean for overall experience was 3.67 and the mean for performance of the equipment during the session was 3.69. It should be noted that no participants rated the performance of the session, or

opportunity to contribute as poor – and only 2.2% rated their overall experience as poor.

#### Social and organizational relations

Experiences of group connection differed according to the type of event. An Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was performed on the data to explore how the two types of events compared on the social variables. The administrative events scored significantly higher (p<.001) than educational events on the following items, "My site and the other sites actively communicated with each other," "I was comfortable sharing ideas and thoughts with people," "I felt like I belonged to a group," and finally "I had an impression of personal contact with the people connected at other sites."

Due to the uneven split between rural (17.8%) versus urban sites, a comparison of the two on all the variables was not appropriate.

Feelings of group connection. Participants were asked to rate social factors and feelings of connection with other participants, on a scale from 1 to 5, where 1 was Strongly Disagree, and 5 was Strongly Agree. The mean rating on "I felt like I belonged to a group" was 4.27. A healthy environment for discussion seemed to have existed during these events as the mean score was 4.40 for if they were comfortable sharing their ideas and thoughts with people. For the most part, participants indicated that a warm and friendly environment for communication was created; the mean rating was 4.24. Participants were asked if they thought their site and the other sites actively communicated with each other during the multi-site videoconference; the mean response was 4.00. We asked participants whether they thought this event was as successful as an in-person meeting; the mean score was 3.87. The lowest overall mean score (3.73) on the social factors was an impression of personal contact with the people at the other sites.

Familiarity with individuals can affect participation. We asked how well participants knew individuals in the same room as compared to individuals at the other sites. The results are represented in the pie charts below – numbers reflect percentages. Overall, participants were more likely to say they knew everyone at the same site.



### 7 Areas for improvement

**Making changes to the environment.** The survey asked respondents about whether they thought particular changes in the environment, such as lighting, or improved audio, would improve their multi-site communications. Participants were asked to rate possible changes on a scale from 1 -Strongly Hinder, to 5 -Strongly Facilitate. The two highest ranking changes were focusing the camera on speakers (*M*=3.74) and better image quality on screen (*M*=3.74). Next, improved audio (*M*=3.5) and lighting (*M*=3.5). Lastly, a couple of participants noted that changing the position of the speaker, and the room temperature, would have improved their experience.

**Technical problems.** A minority (20%) of participants reported experiencing technical problems during their event. Some (6.7%) reported problems with image. Another 6.7% experienced audio problems, and other problems reported included sites freezing. One person indicated difficulty seeing visual cues.

*Monitoring possible inequalities.* Questioned about possible inequalities experienced during the videoconference, the majority (93.3%) reported not

having any. Some participants did note that remote participants were often excluded and some sites were not acknowledged during a videoconference.

**Technical skills training.** Participants were asked if they would like certain types of technical training. Training on applications and add-ons to the unit was the most popular choice (37.8%), followed by initiating a call (33.3%) and trouble-shooting procedures (31.1%). Some people (28.9%) reported not wanting any type of training. Training was wanted on disconnecting a call (26.7%), use of the remote (24.4%), zooming the camera (15.6%), farend camera control and camera angle (both 13.3%), and audio and camera adjustments (both 11.1%). Also specified was PowerPoint training for use with the videoconference technology.

Social skills training. A list of types of social skills training was given to participants and they were asked to check off which type, if any, they would want training in. The highest number - 26.7% indicated they would not want any social skills training. Next, 22.2% wanted training on how to facilitate a group discussion. Wanting training on how to make appropriate eye contact and how to feel comfortable voicing your views, were both endorsed by 15.6% of participants. Another 11.1% wanted training on cultural sensitivity, and how to actively listen to group members. Some participants would like training on how to know when to speak during a videoconference, as it is an atmosphere where there are interruptions, delays and lags, all hindering communication.

### 8 Next steps

# Peer-generated video intervention for knowledge sharing

The NRC is working with RVH to develop an elearning tool to share knowledge and engage videoconference users on best practices for participatory multi-site videoconferencing.

We are currently piloting a peer-generated video intervention. Short videos made by peers are effective for communicating among individuals and groups. The visual content helps engage users. The videos will be between one and two minutes long short enough to be inviting to peers. They will be user-generated by staff members at RVH, in order to ensure the presence of a friendly, familiar, and trustworthy atmosphere will be present.

This intervention will mesh well with the needs and interests of RVH users. In the RVH 2008 User Impact survey, when staff participating in videoconference events were asked about what they would like to learn more about, one of their highest priorities was videoconferencing etiquette.

In response to the needs of participants identified in the User Impact Survey and in this MuVi Survey, we will focus the first few user-generated videos on videoconferencing etiquette, such as zooming in the camera when speaking and making eye contact. The videos will focus on tips from the literature and the data collections thus far on how to increase participation and engagement.

In addition, during the same RVH User Impact Survey, respondents indicated a willingness and interest to learn through short videos; therefore the content and mode of delivery are of interest and welcomed by RVH staff.

#### Focus group to discuss intervention

We held a focus group with meeting chairs to discuss the results of the survey and discuss the intervention. Several tips for meeting etiquette during a multi-site videoconference were identified from the focus group and from the survey responses.

It was suggested that the chairs or facilitators of the sessions could increase the participation by asking more questions and actively eliciting information and feedback from all sites, not just from the site where the presenter is or where the majority of individuals are.

The concept of rotating chairs has been raised in the literature (Sonnenwald et al, 2002) as a technique to help promote participation. In this study it was brought up as a new possible approach. Another suggestion was to rotate the sites where the chair was present. This way the chair would interact with different people from the committee in in-person interactions, which would help build and sustain relationships among group members and change the power dynamics between sites. In addition, the chair would experience the videoconference from the different sites and have the opportunity to appreciate the perspectives of the different members. Of course there are disadvantages to this suggestion, such as the cost and time involved for the chairs to travel.

One participant put forth the idea of having a brief (e.g. 20-second) introduction at the start of every session, covering who was on the screen and the process for participating in a videoconference. Other responses indicated that knowing when to speak would help facilitate participation. One way videoconference participants accomplish this is by raising their hand or making a signal at the camera when they wish to speak.

Physical and environmental changes were suggested including a change of rooms or a larger room for certain events. At one of the data collection events there were more than forty participants in a room with seating for 16 - a less-than-ideal situation.

Lastly, participants suggested that the person making the presentation or facilitating the event should *not* be responsible for using the technology.

### 9 Conclusion

Levels of participation in the multi-site videoconferences studied varied across sites. The highest participation and attendance occurred in Fredericton. One reason is that different incentives are offered across sites, for example for one of the educational events lunch and door prizes were provided in Fredericton but not at the other sites. For the groups involved in this study, the committee chairs were all located in Fredericton.

There was variation on other variables as well. Participants at administrative events were more likely to score higher on feelings of connection with the other sites and other participants, than were those at an educational event. This implies a different social dynamic at each event. One potential explanation is that the educational groups are more open while administrative groups are fairly closed with long-standing memberships. Another possibility is that participants were more likely to know each other or know more people, both at their own site and at the other sites, when they were in administrative groups rather than educational groups. The literature is clear that knowing the individuals at the other sites promotes more trust and group communication (Molyneaux et al., 2008).

Our survey results indicated that participants perceive multi-site videoconferencing technology to be useful and advantageous. The data from the RVH User Impact Survey clearly supported the perceived usefulness of the technology and the overall high level of satisfaction with it.

This study has a user-centered approach which strengthens the research and the intervention which will flow from it. Multiple methods were used to collect data, such as the surveys of users in groups who meet via multi-site videoconferencing, focus groups, brief interviews, and RVH documents.

A study limitation was the low participation rate. Participants were often rushed – attending MSV sessions for their noon-hour and needing to return to their shift as soon as possible once the event was over - and so there was typically a low level of participation. That being said, the participation rate for administrative events was much higher – near 100% in some groups. These administrative groups were well-formed; there is a low turnover of members and everyone is expected to attend each meeting. As well, a researcher met with the group members ahead of the data collection to invite them to participate and inform them about the study.

Future research will be conducted to evaluate the perceived usefulness and effectiveness of the pilot video series intervention on communicating with videoconference participants. The survey that was administered during the first data collection will be re-administered at least two more times to videoconferencing groups in order to re-assess the participatory levels and various technical and social factors of multi-site videoconferencing in this health authority.

In addition, some results from this study point to certain variables which may be related to high scores on social factors – for example, participants from the administrative groups tended to score higher than those from the educational groups. A future analysis will investigate factors related to high social scoring, so that interventions may be geared more towards producing a warm environment for communication.

### **10 References**

Davis, F. D. (1986). A technology acceptance model for empirically testing new end-user information system: theory and results (Doctoral dissertation).

Gibson, K. & O'Donnell, S. (2008). Methodological Challenges of Conducting Participatory ICT Research within a Health authority. To be presented at the ISTAS Conference, Fredericton, New Brunswick, June 26-28, 2008.

Greenburg, A. D. (2004). The Evolving Role of Videoconferencing in Healthcare: http://www.ivci.com/pdf/video-conferencing-in-healthcare.pdf.

Molyneaux, H., O'Donnell, S., Liu, S., Hagerman, V., Gibson, K., Matthews, B., Fournier, H., Scobie, D., Singer, J., McIver, W. Jr., Emond, B., Brooks, M., Oakley P., "Good Practice Guidelines for Participatory Multi-Site Videoconferencing," NRC/ERB-1151. Report: 63 pages. Appendix: 15 pages. October 1, 2007. NRC 49869.

O'Donnell, S., Perley, S., Walmark, B., Burton, K., Beaton, B., & Sark, A. (2007). "Community-based broadband organizations and video communications for remote and rural First Nations in Canada." Proceedings of the Community Informatics Research Network (CIRN) 2007, Prato, Italy.

O'Donnell, S., Singer, J., Milliken, M., & Fournier, H. (2007). BVC-SI - Technical Update Report. Fredericton, NB: National Research Council, ERB-1150, NRC 49868.

O'Donnell, S., Molyneaux, H., & Gibson, K. (2008) Analyzing Broadband Visual Communication. IGI Encyclopedia; abstract accepted; full paper submitted in January 2008.

Petersen, R. (2000). "Real World' Connections through Videoconferencing - We're Closer Than You Think." TechTrends, 44(6), 5-11.

River Valley Health (2007). Telehealth indicator detail sheet.

River Valley Health (2008). Draft summary of user impact survey – videoconferencing.

River Valley Health (2008b). Telehealth indicator detail sheet.

River Valley Health. Retrieved on May 8<sup>th</sup> 2008 from http://www.rivervalleyhealth.nb.ca/en/about/default.a spx.

Sonnenwald, D. H., Soloman, P., Hara, N., Bolliger, R., Cox, T. (2002). "Collaboration in the Large: Using Video Conferencing to Facilitate Large Group Interaction" In Gunasekaran, A. Khalil, O. (Ed.), Knowledge and Information Technology in

21st Century Organizations: Human and Social Perspectives (pp. 115-136). Hersey, PA: Idea Publishing Co.

Wainfan, L., & Davis, P. K. (2004). Challenges in Virtual Collaboration: Videoconferencing, Audioconferencing, and Computer-Mediated Communication. Pittsburg, PA: RAND Corporation.

## Appendix





Mean Social Connection Scores on a Scale from 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 5 (Strongly Agree)



#### Mean Perceived Ease of Use Scores on a Scale from 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 5 (Strongly Agree)



Mean Perceived Usefulness Scores on a Scale from 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 5 (Strongly Agree)



# Mean Ratings of the Quality of the Videoconference Session on a Scale from 1 (Poor) to 5 (Excellent)